V. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a final judgment of the Superior Court that disposes of all parties' claims.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Did the trial court err (either as a matter of law or as an abuse of discretion) in requiring expert testimony to establish the standard of care of a condominium association board composed of laypersons faced with a visibly bulging and cracking foundation common element wall after being warned by a property inspector and a structural engineering firm that the wall was at imminent risk of collapse and had to be addressed as soon as possible?
- B. Is a ruling that expert testimony is *required* reviewed for legal error or for abuse of discretion?
- C. Was the trial court's assignment to the Plaintiff of the burden to prove that the defendant condominium association had the means to timely raise funds needed to make urgent repairs legally erroneous?
- D. Was the trial court's conclusion that the plaintiff condominium unit owner had not proved that the defendant condominium association had the means to timely raise funds for urgently needed repairs clearly erroneous.
- E. Was the trial court's conclusion that speculation was required to decide whether the condominium board's failure to make urgently required repairs

led to the collapse of a foundation wall a misapplication of law or clearly erroneous?

VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

KS Condo, LLC ("KS Condo") owned a unit (the "Unit") in 3810 V Street, which is part of Fairfax Village Condominium VII ("Fairfax Village"). KS Condo leased the Unit to a tenant and collected monthly rent. On July 29, 2017, a foundation wall in the basement of 3810 V Street collapsed, and the City declared the building uninhabitable. The Unit was damaged, and KS Condo lost income because of its uninhabitability.

More than two years before the collapse, Fairfax Village's board of directors (the "Board") learned that the foundation wall, which had buckled and was visibly deformed, was at risk of collapse and advised unit owners that repairs were urgently needed within 30 days.

18 months before the collapse, the Board was advised by a professional property inspector and a structural engineering firm that the buckling wall was displaced by approximately three inches, constituted a serious structural problem, and should be addressed "as soon as possible." The Board repeatedly advised unit owners that the risk was "SERIOUS," the need "urgent," and the consequences of failure to act would be collapse of the wall and lawsuits against

Fairfax Village. The wall collapsed with no reinforcement or repair work having been done.

KS Condo filed a civil action for negligence. The case was tried remotely and without a jury. After submission of proposed findings, the trial judge made findings of fact and set forth conclusions of law. App. 0027-0040.

The trial court appropriately ruled that Fairfax Village was "responsib[le] for maintenance, repair, renovation, restoration, and replacement of the common elements," that the collapsed wall was a common element, and that Fairfax Village's duty was to act as a reasonable condominium association would under the same or similar circumstances, exercising the care required of a fiduciary of the unit owners. App. 0036-0037 (citing D.C. Code §§ 42-1903.07(a)(1), 42-1903.08(d) (2016); Fairfax Village Bylaws (App. 340, et seq.); Baker v. Chrissy Condo. Ass'n, 251 A.3d 301, 308 (D.C. 2021); Quincy Park Condo Unit Owners' Ass'n v. D.C. Bd. Of Zoning Adjustment, 4 A.3d 1283, 1290 (D.C. 2010) (addressing Board's fiduciary duties to unit owners)). The trial court properly equated this duty to that of a landlord to its tenant. App. 0037 (citing Reeves v. Carrollsburg Condo. Unit Owners Ass'n, No.: 96-2495(RMU), 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21762, at *25-26 (D.D.C. Dec. 18, 1997); Frances T. v. Vill. Green Owners Ass'n, 42 Cal. 3d 490, 499, 723 P.2d 573, 576 (1986)).

But the trial court then ruled as a matter of law that an expert in property management was required to establish that Fairfax Village breached the standard of care and that it was speculative to assert that the wall would not have collapsed had it timely been braced or repaired. App. 0037-0038.

The trial court entered judgment in Fairfax Village's favor on July 14, 2022. App. 0018. KS Condo filed a timely notice of appeal on August 8, 2022. App. 0172-0173.

VIII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Fairfax Village and the Unit

Fairfax Village is a duly constituted condominium association in accordance with District of Columbia law and the Association's Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions and any amendments thereto. App. 0069. It is comprised of approximately 80 condominium units across several buildings. App. 0074.

3810 V Street is a three-story brick multifamily building and part of Fairfax Village. App. 0074. The Unit is on the first floor of 3810 V Street, immediately above the basement. App. 0075. The basement is a common element of Fairfax Village. App. 0075.

-4-

B. Management of Fairfax Village

Fairfax Village is governed according to its Bylaws. App. 0069; Plaintiff Exhibit ("PX") 33 (App. 340-393). Fairfax Village is managed by the Board (PX33, p. B-5: App. 346), which is comprised mostly of its residents and not their full-time jobs. App. 0066-0067, 0073. The Board's "guiding principles" include "fiduciary responsibility ... to ... owners" and to "preserve, protect and improve the property." PX1: App. 181.

The Board is responsible for operation, surveillance, care, upkeep, maintenance, repair, and replacement of all common elements (App. 0073, PX33, p. B-5, 15: App. 346, 356)); hiring personnel; and contracting for the operation, maintenance, repair, and replacement of all common elements (App. 0073, PX33, p. B-5, 6: App. 346, 347). Individual unit owners, such as KS Condo, have no authority to make repairs to common elements of the Condominium. App. 0073-0074.

-

¹ KS Condo's Exhibits 1-34 were admitted into evidence. App. 0069-0070. Exhibits 3 and 7 were admitted for purposes other than the truth of the matters asserted. App. 0047-0048.

² For example, the trial judge knew the Acting President of the Board from his work as Chief of Staff for the Public Defender Service for the District of Columbia. App. 0070, 0072.

C. The Failing Foundation Wall

In March 2015, the Board identified to unit owners a "SERIOUS" issue with the basement of 3810 V Street and advised that an "urgent" repair "needs to start within 30 days" and that the Association will be at risk of lawsuits if it does not make the needed repairs. App. 0160-0162; PX1 (App. 177).

Work did not start within 30 days. Indeed, there was no evidence that the Board took any further action until December of 2015. In December, the Board had Property Diagnostics, Inc., and then the Falcon Group, inspect the 3810 V Street basement foundation wall. PX2 (App. 190); PX3 (App. 192-194). Property Diagnostics reported to the Board's President that it observed "serious structural problems":

The rear wall of the building has moved and is not properly setting on the building footer. The lower section of the wall is buckling.

The wall has moved approximately 3". We recommend having a structural engineering firm perform an evaluation of conditions, and specify requirements to repair or re-support as soon as possible. *Delaying action could result in the building collapsing...*. We cannot over emphasize the danger of the condition, and if possible a structural engineer should be engaged immediately.

App. 190 (emphasis added).

The Board brought in the Falcon Group for the structural engineering assessment. Falcon reported that the foundation wall was "buckling ... from end to

end." It was, Falcon reported, an issue "that *needs to be addressed and resolved* as soon as possible" and could not be cured by ongoing efforts at preventing water infiltration. The Falcon Report offered options of rebuilding the entire foundation wall or using steel beams to reinforce the foundation. App. 194. The Board understood from this letter that the basement foundation wall was a problem that required urgent attention. App. 0077.

The Board asked The Falcon Group for a proposal to design and manage the construction of the wall repair. The Falcon Group submitted its proposal on January 5, 2016. App. 430-436. In its proposal, Falcon explained that the foundation wall would have to be excavated and reconstructed and it offered "to attend a Board meeting or workshop to present this proposal and discuss this project free of charge." The plan included temporary shoring of the existing structure to allow for the excavation and reconstruction. Falcon proposed to prepare the repair design and specifications for less than \$10,000 and proposed thereafter that Falcon would oversee the bidding, expedite the issuance of construction permits, and manage the construction work. App. 430-436.

The Board discussed, internally and with the homeowners, the need for a loan or special assessment to make this "urgent repair" to the foundation wall at an estimated cost of \$175,000. PX4: App. 195-197 (May 19, 2016); PX6: App. 213 (May 22, 2016). The Board advised the unit owners that the wall repair was an

URGENT priority, characterized the status as "SERIOUS," stated that money to pay for it was needed as soon as possible, that the Association could wait no longer to make the repairs, and that the Association was at risk of lawsuits if the repairs were not made. PX5: App. 196-212 (May 19, 2016).

The Board shared with the unit owners a photograph of the collapsing wall that had been taken the prior December. *See* Figure 1. PX5: App. 203; PX3: App. 193. And the unit owners were advised that "The top 3 repairs are special projects that require reserves or a special assessment funds" and "There are no reserve funds available." PX5: App. 202. The only logical conclusion from this was that a special assessment would be forthcoming, but it was not.³



Figure 1. Photo of collapsing wall from PX5.

³ The Board prepared special assessment calculations on May 22, 2016. PX6: App. 213.

Notwithstanding the warnings given to the Board by Property

Diagnostics ("Delaying action could result in the building collapsing.") and the

Falcon Group ("needs to be addressed and resolved as soon as possible") and the

urgency expressed by the Board to the unit owners, the Board took more than six
and-a-half months just to sign the Falcon proposal, finally issuing a contract for

Falcon's work on July 25, 2016. Defense Exhibit ("DX") 13: App. 426-445.⁴ The

urgent need to fund the repairs continued to be reported by the Board to the unit

owners for the next year. PX8: App. 215 (Sept. and Oct. 2016), PX9: App. 220

(Feb. 22. 2017), PX10: App. 230 (Apr. 20, 2017), DX7: App. 413 (June 12, 2017).

Within a few months of ratification, Falcon Group had designed the repair. *See* DX5: App. 407-408 (emphasis added) (where Board President suggests other board members "review the design plans that I sent *a few months ago* from Falcon, so that all of us are clear on project scope"). On February 18, 2017, the Board President emailed the rest of the Board: "The first bidder came onsite this week to assess the job based on Falcon design plan. Based on his very high level assessment, this will definitely be a six figure job, possibly with a '2' in front of that six figure number." DX5: App. 407-408. Thus, the first bidder came on site almost two years after the Board told the owners the work had to start within 30 days, and this was *months* after the design plans had been completed.

⁴ All the defense exhibits were admitted. App. 049.

At the unit owners' meeting on February 22, 2017, the Board advised that the Association needed \$250,000 "to perform foundation repair immediately," calling it an "URGENT" priority and characterizing the status as "SERIOUS." The Board reported that the bidding process had begun, that the repair had to be funded by a loan to the Association or a special assessment, and reiterated that the "Foundation Wall Repair must be done as soon as possible." PX9: App. 220, 222-223.

At a unit owners' meeting on April 20, 2017, the Board advised that the Association needed \$250,000 "to perform foundation repair immediately," calling it an "URGENT" priority and characterizing the status as "SERIOUS." The Board again reported that the bidding process had begun. It advised that the repair had to be funded by a loan to the Association or a special assessment, that the Board was pursuing a loan, and reiterated that the "Foundation Wall Repair must be done as soon as possible." PX10: App. 230, 232-233.

At the June 12, 2017 unit owners' meeting, the officers' report again characterized the status of the foundation wall as "SERIOUS," stated that "The Association needs est. \$250,000 in funds for foundation repair immediately," stated, "If a loan is not possible, we will require a special assessment," and included,

Property Management

- •Foundation Wall Repair must be done as soon as possible. Structural Engineer Consultant is managing the bidding process. Gross estimates for the cost of this repair are expected to be est. \$250,000. The project will take 3-6 months, and it will require excavating a major section of the courtyard area.
- <u>Action Proposed</u>: Loan or Special Assessment needed. Currently in application process for a loan for this project, to avoid another special assessment. If that does not happen, we will notify all owners of the special assessment details.

DX7: App. 413, 418.

On July 29, 2017, the foundation wall collapsed, and the building was condemned. PX14: App. 244-255. Fairfax Village had not begun the urgently needed repairs to the foundation wall. PX31 (App. 332, Admission 12). The Unit was uninhabitable for approximately one year. App. 105, 146.

D. The Board had three means to pay for the urgent repair but used none of them.

The Board had three means to raise the money for the urgently needed repairs to the basement foundation wall. In addition to borrowing the funds, as the Board ultimately did following the collapse, the Bylaws authorized the Board to: (a) levy special assessments to address unexpected repairs (App. 0073, 0079-0080, PX33, p. B-13, 14: App. 354-355)) or (b) foreclose on units with unpaid condominium dues. App. 0073, PX33, p. B-28: App. 369. While the Board repeatedly discussed its financing alternatives, "[P]rior to the collapse of the wall,

we did not generate any funds to repair the wall." App. 89 (Herbert Robinson testimony), it did not exercise any of them.

1. The Board did not issue a special assessment.

The Board never issued a special assessment to pay for the retention or repair of the collapsing foundation wall. Both Board Members that testified at the trial testified that the Board *never issued a special assessment* to make the needed repair. App. 0088-0089, 0164-0165. What the evidence showed is that, for close to three years, the Board repeatedly stated that it *could* raise the funds through a special assessment but never did.

2. The Board did not use its foreclosure authority to raise the urgently needed repair money.

The Board did not use its foreclosure authority to raise money for the repairs. App. 0088-0089. Fairfax Village was owed approximately \$400,000 by unit owners in the year prior to the collapse. PX10: App. 229; PX5: App. 204. The only evidence presented at trial to explain why the Board had not used foreclosure to raise the urgently needed money was vague testimony about unit owners dying, in bankruptcy, or lack of funds. App. 0084-0087. But the evidence showed that suits against unit owners was a viable, if not preferred, means to raise the needed funds.

Bankruptcies and deceased unit owners were not a significant problem. As of May of 2016, bankruptcies accounted for \$51,621 of the amount

owed and one unit owner (owing \$23,407) was deceased. PX5: App. 204. Indeed, the Bylaws made it mandatory for the Board to "take prompt action to collect any assessments for Common Expenses due from any Unit Owner which remain unpaid for more than thirty (30) days from the due date for payment thereof." PX33, p. B-14: App. 355.

3. The Board delayed borrowing money for the needed repairs until it was too late.

The Board's first serious effort to obtain a loan to make repairs did not begin until April of 2017 (more than two years after the Board said the repairs had to start within 30 days), when its contracted property management company introduced Fairfax Village to Continental Mortgage & Investment Corporation ("CMIC"), a lender. App. 0141-0145; PX11: App. 236-239. And it moved at a snail's pace from there.

The Board sought a \$400,000 loan from CMIC, \$250,000 of which was for the foundation wall repair. PX10 (App. 230); PX11 (App. 237). On May 24, 2017, CMIC's counsel sent draft loan documents to Fairfax Village's counsel and requested several documents that would be needed to close the loan.⁵ App.

⁵ The requested documents included an executed Borrower's Attorneys' Opinion Letter, copies of any necessary Condominium Board Resolutions, Certificate(s) of Insurance identifying CMIC as additional insured, copies of Association insurance policies, a DCRA Certificate of Good Standing for the Association, the Association's 2016 federal tax returns, and the Association's Condominium Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, and Bylaws. DX3 (App. 404-406).

0128-0137; PX12 (App. 240). Fairfax Village's counsel could not say whether he had provided the requested documents before the wall collapsed. *Id.* And the Board had not acted on the draft loan documents when, two months later, the wall fell. App. 0080; 0136-0137.

Aside from vague recollections from Board members, offered over KS Condo's objection for failure to provide the information in discovery,⁶ that the Board had sought a loan from a bank, or that Fairfax Village had sought government assistance (App. 0158-0159),⁷ there was no evidence that the Board had done anything to obtain a loan prior to April of 2017. App. 0078 ("Other than CMIC, are you aware of any other applications for a loan being made for that repair? A. I'm not – I'm not – I don't know of any other application"); 0082-0083, 0158-0159; PX11: App. 236. No evidence of any earlier loan application was presented at trial and Fairfax's discovery responses maintained that the only loan application made by the Board was that to CMIC in or about April of 2017:

INTERROGATORY NO. 2. If you contend that defendant acted reasonably in responding to the concern addressed in the letter attached hereto as Exhibit B [PX3:

⁶ KS Condo objected to questions about any effort to obtain funds from a bank on the ground that KS Condo "asked in discovery for every step that was taken by the Board to deal with this issue. And this information that Mr. Fellner is asking about was not provided, *even after two motions to compel*." App. 0082 (emphasis added).

⁷ The documentary evidence shows that the government outreach was made in March of 2015 and made no mention of the basement foundation wall. DX11 (App. 421-422).

App. 191-194], please describe each and every action taken to mitigate the risk of collapse of the foundation wall, identify each person who took such action, and identify all documents and other tangible things that support your response and state the name, address, and telephone number of the person who has each document or thing.

ANSWER: The Condominium pursued various efforts to remedy the alleged issue, including soliciting bids and attempting to obtain a loan. Those efforts are documented by the Meeting minutes provided.

* * *

INTERROGATORY NO. 12. Please describe in full detail each of the "various efforts to remedy the alleged issue, including soliciting bids and attempting to obtain a loan" as referenced in your response to interrogatory number two. As to each, *identify* all *documents* that you contend reflect the action taken, *identify* each person who took, or claims to have taken, the action, and state the date or dates on which the action was taken.

ANSWER: The Board solicited funds from Congresswoman Norton and Mayor Muriel Bowser. The Board applied for a loan (application is attached), and considered a special assessment as well. The loan was in the process of being approved at the time the wall fell. The loan ultimately obtained by the Condominium in order to do repairs was essentially the same loan they had been pursuing prior to the collapse of the wall.

PX31: App. 333-334 (*see also* PX29 (App. 292), PX30 (App. 325-326) for definitions of italicized terms).⁸

⁸ Fairfax Village's discovery responses came after two orders compelling responses to discovery. *See* Orders dated June 29, 2020 ("Motion to Compel and Incorporated")

4. Fairfax Village obtained a \$1,000,000 loan within three months of the collapse.

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