## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

#### NO. 22-CV-0593



Clerk of the Court Received 02/21/2023 11:09 AM Filed 02/21/2023 11:09 AM

#### KS CONDO LLC, Appellant,

v.

# FAIRFAX VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM VII, Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Hon. Maurice A. Ross, J.)

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FAIRFAX VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM VII

Thomas C. Mugavero, Esq. (#431512) Whiteford, Taylor & Preston L.L.P. 3190 Fairview Park Drive Suite 800 Falls Church, VA 22042 (703) 280-9260 (703) 280-8948 (facsimile) tmugavero@wtplaw.com *Counsel for Appellee, Fairfax Village Condominium VII* 

## APPELLEE'S CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court has broad discretion to determine whether expert testimony is required in a particular case. A long line of cases from this Court dictates the circumstances where expert testimony is required, even if the plaintiffs have insisted that the particular claim of negligence could be left to the jury's common sense. Here, the evidence showed that although the Association knew for two years that there were problems with the basement wall at 3810 V Street, S.E., there were also a number of other projects that required attention. In 2015 and 2016, there were approximately eighteen separate repair projects outstanding, with three marked as "URGENT". At the same time, the Association faced a number of unit owners who were delinquent on their assessment payments, creating a budget shortfall of hundreds of thousands of dollars. Given these facts, the trial court acted within its discretion in holding that expert testimony was required to show what a reasonable condominium association would have done under this convergence of circumstances.

Because the decision rests within the discretion of the trial court, it should not be reviewed *de novo* on appeal. Appellant's arguments ignore the longstanding precedent within the District of Columbia, and rely on inapposite cases from other jurisdictions. Moreover, having conceded that the need for expert testimony should be determined on a case-by-case basis, Appellant fails to explain why such determination should not be left to the trial court, especially here, where the court was also the finder of fact.

Because it failed to provide expert evidence as to the applicable standard of care, Appellant failed to prove its case, and the claim was properly dismissed. The trial court did not – contrary to the arguments in Appellant's Brief – "require" KS Condo to prove that the Association had the funds necessary, or decide that the applicable standard of care "had been met." Finally, although the duty of a condominium association to maintain the common areas is arguably analogous to that of a landlord, neither landlord nor association is the insurer of the property.

The Association was required to act reasonably in maintaining and repairing the common elements. Since KS Condo failed to define what a reasonable standard of care was, it could not show that the Association had fallen below that standard.

Given the evidence at trial, the court acted well within its discretion in finding that expert testimony was required to define the applicable standard of care for the Association. KS Condo did not offer any expert testimony, and therefore failed to meet its burden of proof. The claims were properly dismissed, and the judgment for the Association should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

The decision whether to require expert testimony is left to the sound and broad discretion of the trial court. *District of Columbia v. White*, 442 A.2d 159, 165 (D.C.1982); *Varner v. District of Columbia*, 891 A. 2d 260, 266 (D.C. 2006). The court's "action is to be sustained unless manifestly erroneous." *Id. (quoting Salem v. United States Lines Co.*, 370 U.S. 31, 35, 82 S.Ct. 1119, 8 L.Ed.2d 313 (1962)).

On appeal from a bench trial, this Court reviews the trial court's legal conclusions *de novo* and its factual findings for clear error. *See, e.g., FDS Restaurant, Inc. v. All Plumbing, Inc.*, 241 A.3d 222, 226 (D.C. 2020); *Ballard v. Dornic*, 140 A.3d 1147, 1150 (D.C. 2016). "[T]he judgment may not be set aside

except for errors of law unless it appears that the judgment is plainly wrong or without evidence to support it." D.C. Code § 17-305(a).

#### B. The Trial Court Acted Within Its Discretion in Requiring Expert Testimony

This Court has long held that expert testimony is necessary when the question of negligence requires specialized knowledge beyond the ken of the average juror. See Toy v. District of Columbia, 549 A.2d 1, 6 (D.C. 1988). Thus, in Katkish v. District of Columbia, 763 A.2d 703 (D.C. 2000), expert testimony was required to show the "standard of reasonable care and maintenance of a dead and leaning tree by a municipality ... in [a] nonemergency situation" (at 706). In Messina v. District of Columbia, 663 A.2d 535 (D.C. 1995), expert testimony was required to show the "particular cushioning standard for the ground under ... monkey bars to prevent injuries" (at 538). See also District of Columbia v. Hampton, 666 A.2d 30, 36 (D.C. 1995) (expert testimony required for the standard of care in "the selection of foster parents and the supervision of the care they provide"); Beard v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 587 A.2d 195, 200 (D.C. 1991) (expert testimony required as to "the appropriate standard of care to which retail merchants should be held in processing applications for credit cards"); Butler v. *Night and Day Mgt., LLC*, 101 A.3d 1033, 1038 - 9 (D.C. 2014) (expert testimony required as to the standard of care for the number and deployment of security personnel at a nightclub). See also, gen'lly, Briggs v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit *Auth.*, 481 F.3d 839, 845 (D.C.Cir.2007) (cataloguing various non-malpractice cases in which expert testimony was required to establish the standard of care).

Expert evidence has also been required in cases where the plaintiffs insisted that negligence could be determined through the application of simple common sense. In District of Columbia v. Arnold & Porter, 756 A.2d 427 (D.C. 2000), water was seen running down the curb and "bubbling out of a manhole cover" (at 429). Nonetheless, the investigative crews on both the 4 p.m. to midnight shift and the midnight to 8 a.m. shift deferred any remedial work at that location, choosing instead to handle other jobs of lesser priority. Approximately nine hours after the initial report, the water main break was discovered: the intersection of 21st and M Streets was covered with water, and there was a "geyser of water" (at 429 - 30). Although the plaintiffs argued that an average jury could reach the conclusion that the District had not acted properly in failing to address the water leak, this court nonetheless found that "the operation and maintenance of a municipal water main system and the handling of leaks in that system are not subjects within the common knowledge of jurors" (at 434).

Similarly, in *Hill v. Metropolitan African Methodist Episcopal Church*, 779 A.2d 906 (D.C. 2001), the plaintiff was leaving an inauguration ceremony at the church, when there was a "rush of people, perhaps from the balcony." In the crowd, she could not see the stairway when she reached it, and fell. (at 907). The

plaintiff argued that expert testimony was not needed, as the "issue of providing ushers for church services" was a matter of common sense. This Court disagreed, and held that "[w]ithout the expert testimony of one familiar with such considerations, the jury would be left to sheer speculation as to various types of crowd control, what level of measures is generally accepted as reasonable in such circumstances, and the relation of such measures to possible mishaps in the exiting process" (at 910). See also St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Capitol Sprinkler Inspection, Inc., 627 F.Supp.2d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2009) (NFPA regulations required that a fire protection system must be "readily accessible" for inspection; an average juror, however, would not know what those words meant "in the context of the sprinkler inspection standards," and expert testimony was required); Owen v. U.S., 899 F.Supp.2d 71, 79-80 (D.D.C. 2012) (although plaintiff argued that the negligence lay in the Kennedy Center's failure to properly investigate the source of malfunctions in a wheelchair lift, expert testimony was still required on the "myriad issues surrounding the safety of wheelchair lifts."); Tripmacher v. Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc., 277 F.Supp.3d 104, 110 (D.D.C. 2017) (expert evidence required on issues of "designing appropriate measures to handle a large number of people, [or] with the placement of accessibility features in spaces that are open to the public").

Appellant presents an overly simplified version of the facts: it argues that the only question is "what a reasonable condominium association ... would do after observing a foundation wall bulging and being told by structural engineers to fortify or repair it" (Appellant Brief at 22). The situation at the Association, however, cannot be described in such minimalist terms. In reality, the Association had multiple repair and maintenance issues to grapple with, and a substantial shortfall in its budgeted income. As the exhibits demonstrated, in 2015 there were three major repair projects that were marked "URGENT" (App. 177), with a total of eighteen separate pending projects (App. 179). At the same time, there were eighteen unit owners who were not making any payments on their assessments (App. 177). By May, 2016, not only was the foundation still an issue, but a floor in one unit had dropped by six inches, and a garage retaining wall was Each of these were marked "URGENT", and would require deteriorating. \$268,000 to repair (App. 196, 202). Unfortunately, 52% of the unit owners had outstanding balances (App. 204). By February, 2017, while progress had been made on the long list of repair projects, there was a shortfall of \$359,582 in assessment payments (App. 219); three months later, the Board reported a budget income shortfall of \$342,154 (App. 412), while seventeen repair projects had been identified, at a known cost of \$662,306 (App. 413). Even were the Board to somehow miraculously collect all the outstanding assessment payments on that same day, they still would have lacked \$320,152 to do the repairs. Too, as Ms. Mobley testified, the funds that the Association did have available were needed for operations, trash pick-up, and other daily expenses; they did not have ready funds to do immediate repairs (App. 156).

Appellant also ignores the fact that a foolproof method of collecting on unpaid assessments simply does not exist. As Mr. Robinson testified, the Association did not have the money to proceed with foreclosures. The unit owners often declared bankruptcy, or the mortgage holder would foreclose, effectively cutting the Association out of any recovery from the sale of the unit. See App. 084 - 6). Finally, Appellant repeatedly complains that the Board "never" imposed a special assessment (see Appellant Brief at 8, 12, 29). Mr. Robinson testified, however, that they had imposed special assessments in the past (App. 078); indeed, in 2015, there had been a special assessment of \$142,700 imposed; only \$96,207 had been collected (App. 185). Imposing another special assessment at a time when the previous one remained uncollected may have proved futile.

The real issue, therefore, is this: in the exercise of reasonable care, what steps should a condominium association board take when faced with numerous maintenance and repair issues, severe budget shortfalls, and limited resources for collection of outstanding debts? Put differently, what is the applicable standard of care within the condominium management industry for prioritization of repairs and pursuit of outside funding sources, where existing resources are limited and demand upon those resources is great? Such considerations require a level of experience in condominium management and financial planning beyond that of the everyday layman. The average jury would have needed some expert opinion as to how a condominium association might reasonably meet the challenges that Fairfax Village faced; otherwise, it would have no basis upon which to reach any conclusion.

In this trial, of course, there was no jury; on the contrary, the trial judge heard all this evidence, and ultimately determined that he, as the trier of fact, lacked the necessary expertise to determine the applicable standard of care, and thus that expert testimony was necessary. This determination certainly lay within the broad discretion of the trial court, and should be affirmed.

#### C. The Question of Whether Expert Testimony is Required Is Not Reviewed *De Novo*

Appellant concedes that this Court held, in *District of Columbia v. Davis*, 386 A.2d 1195 (D.C. 1978), that the question of whether to require expert testimony lay within the trial court's discretion, and is reviewed accordingly. Appellant contends, however, that such a ruling was a "mistake," which was then "carried forward" in later cases. *See* Appellant Brief at 25. Aside from the fact that KS Condo does not like the result in this case, it offers no reason why the long-standing precedent should be discarded, nor does Appellant cite to any

opinion from this Court to suggest that the question has ever been decided differently.

Appellant does rely on a number of cases from other jurisdictions in support of its proposition. Those cases, however, are inapposite here. *Bittner v. Centurion of Vt. LLC*, 264 A.3d 850 (Vt. 2021) dealt with a statutory requirement that a Certificate of Merit be filed in every medical malpractice case; because plaintiff had failed to do so, the court granted defendant's motion to dismiss. Both the review of a motion to dismiss and interpretation of the relevant statute were *de novo*; the *Bittner* court was not faced with a court's findings after trial on the merits.

*Tousignant v. St. Louis Cnty*, 615 N.W.2d 53 (Minn. 2000) involved a nursing home resident whose medical chart required that she be restrained and supervised; she was not, and she fell out of her wheelchair. *D.P. v. Wrangell Gen. Hosp.*, 5 P.3d 225 (Alaska 2000) involved a schizophrenic patient who was allowed to wander away from the institution, ultimately engaging in sexual activity with a stranger. In each of these cases, the appellate court held that the particular negligence – failure to supervise, or failure to restrain – were not of a character that required expert testimony. In *Bauer v. White*, 95 Wn. App. 663, 976 P.2d 664 (Wash. 1999) a patient underwent leg surgery, and the surgeon left a pin inside the surgical site. The appellate court balanced the statutory requirements for expert

certification against the long-standing rule that leaving objects in a patient's body was *per se* negligent. *Vandermay v. Clayton*, 328 Ore. 646, 984 P.2d 272 (1999) was a legal malpractice case: the lawyer had not followed the client's express instructions in drafting a contract for sale, and then told his client to sign the contract without disclosing the discrepancy. Here, as well, the appellate court found that, in the particular facts of the case, expert testimony was not required. The fact that expert testimony was not required in those cases, with those unique facts, does not speak to whether it is necessary in the instant case.

Finally, in *FFE Transp. Svces v. Fulgham*, 154 S.W.3d 84 (Tex. 2004), the court addressed, as a matter of first impression, whether deference should be given to a trial court's determination that expert testimony is required. That court found that the matter was for *de novo* review. The ruling, however, is unique to Texas law; again, Appellant offers no argument that this Court should ignore its own precedent and follow the Texas court's opinion.

In addition to the existing precedent in the District of Columbia, more practical concerns mandate rejecting the Texas ruling. As KS Condo concedes, the "determination of whether expert testimony is required must be made on a case-bycase basis," and no blanket rule should be applied (Brief at 22). In ruling whether to require expert evidence, therefore, the trial court must consider the particular facts in evidence and the particular issues in the case. Here, the trial court did precisely that: the Court's findings noted both the financial difficulties facing the Association and the need for repairs, and specifically noted that "Fairfax was attempting to address the deteriorating wall for years." (App. 038). All of those facts made the question of the appropriate standard of care particularly difficult. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, the trial court did not apply an inflexible rule. Rather, it determined that under the facts in this case, demonstration of the proper standard of care required expert evidence.

Given that the necessity for expert testimony depends on the specific facts of the case, and given that factual findings are given large deference in this court's review on appeal, it is illogical to remove the decision to require expert evidence from the discretion of the trial court. Again, the trial court here – both as judge and fact-finder – concluded that expert evidence was needed to establish the standard of care. Such a finding should not be reviewed *de novo*. Rather, both controlling precedent and sound jurisprudence would mandate that the question of expert testimony be left to the trial court's broad discretion. As discussed above, the trial judge here acted well within his discretion, and his ruling should be affirmed.

#### D. Appellant's Remaining Arguments are Unavailing

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